1990

Lewis Duncan, Patrick Duncan v. Union Pacific Railroad Company, The State of Utah, Paul Kleinman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT

Jurisdiction to hear this appeal is conferred upon the Supreme Court under Article VIII, § 3, of the Utah Constitution; Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(i); and Rule 45, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, this being a review of the decision of the Utah Court of Appeals by a grant of Plaintiff's Petition for a Writ of Certiorari.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Summary Judgment entered by the District Court in favor of the State of Utah on the issue of "governmental immunity"?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Summary Judgment entered in favor of the Union Pacific Railroad in assessing its duties to improve warning devices at railway crossings?

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

The following statutes and rules are believed to be determinative of the issues presented above:

Utah Code Ann. §§ 54-4-15, et seq. (1990);

Utah Code Ann. § 56-1-11 (1990);

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-8 (1990);

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10 (1990);

Rule 56, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

The contents of the cited authority are fully set forth in the Addendum to this Brief in accord with Rule 24(f), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceeding and Disposition in the Lower Court.

These proceedings originated as a wrongful death action filed by the heirs and/or estates of four individuals who were killed in an automobile/train collision which occurred in rural Tooele County, Utah. Named as Defendants were Tooele County (subsequently dismissed by stipulation), the State of Utah, Union Pacific Railroad and its train operator, Paul Kleinman. (R. 9, 82 and 86).

The Complaint stated four Causes of Action; negligent operation of the train on the part of Union Pacific and its employee Kleinman; negligent maintenance and a failure to install proper warning devices at the railway crossing by the State (through the Utah Department of Transportation, "UDOT") and railroad, and; Union Pacific's negligent entrustment of the train to an unfit operator, Defendant Kleinman. (R. 1-9). For purposes of the present review, the focus is on allegations of Defendants' failure to maintain adequate safeguards at the crossing.

In addition to denying specific allegations of the Complaint, the State and Union Pacific affirmatively alleged contributory negligence on the part of Patrick Duncan, the automobile's driver. The State also defended on the grounds of sovereign immunity. Lastly, the Defendants pleaded a Counterclaim against the Estate of Patrick Duncan for indemnity

and contribution as to any recovery awarded other Plaintiffs.
(R. 23-27 and 36-45).

Following a period of discovery, Defendants filed Motions for Summary Judgment in the Fall of 1987. (R. 121-122 and 127-128). Among supporting Affidavits submitted by Defendants were those of Paul Kleinman, as to operation of the train; numerous members of UDOT surveillance teams, as to the decision on whether or not to upgrade warning devices at the crossing by installation of automatic gates, and; Affidavits by persons who had examined the crossing and testified to its general condition and that of the surrounding terrain. In response, Plaintiffs offered the Affidavit of Robert Crommelin as an expert witness who had visited and examined the subject crossing and opined as to whether it was "extra-hazardous". (R. 192).

Important to the issues presently pending before the Court, the Affidavits submitted by UDOT's surveillance team members described the process by which crossings received priority for funding to upgrade warning devices. This process can best be described as incorporating information and projections as to automobile and train traffic, speed, crossing angle and predicted and actual accident rates into a mathematical formula (the "Hazard Rating Index") which, if a certain level was reached, would result in funding. The Affidavits indicated a recommendation to install automatic crossing gates at Droubay Road prior to the Duncan accident but installation was postponed

until Federal funding became available. (R. 357-359 and 403-405).

After oral argument on the Motions, and in the face of UDOT's recommendation to upgrade warning devices and the Crommelin Affidavit on the question of the crossing being "extra-hazardous", District Judge Timothy R. Hanson entered Summary Judgment in favor of Defendants on November 17, 1987. (R. 477-488 and appended hereto). The Memorandum Decision found that Plaintiffs had produced no evidence on negligent operation of the train and that, as a matter of law, the railroad had no duty as to placement of warning devices at the crossing. (R. 484). The Court went on to grant the State sovereign immunity, the determination as to enhancement of warning devices being the exercise of a "discretionary function". (R. 482).

Judge Hanson's ruling was affirmed by the Utah Court of Appeals in its Opinion dated April 12, 1990.¹ As described below, Judge Bullock assumed Plaintiffs had stated a prima facie case of negligence, but proceeded to find that Union Pacific had no duty to erect warning devices at the crossing (790 P.2d 599) and UDOT was shielded from liability by governmental immunity (790 P.2d 602). Plaintiffs assert that these decisions as to the relative duties of Defendants with respect to warning devices at the crossing and the availability of sovereign immunity for the State are contrary to prior decisions of the Utah Supreme Court

¹ Duncan v. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 790 P.2d 595 (Utah App. 1990).

and Court of Appeals warranting a reversal and remand for purposes of trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Accident

At approximately 8:50 p.m. on the night of April 9, 1983, a northbound automobile driven by Patrick Duncan and containing passengers Jeffrey Bowers, his nine month old daughter, Nicole Bowers and Ramon Henwood was struck by a westbound Union Pacific freight train in Tooele County, Utah. All four occupants of Duncan's 1978 Chevrolet Caprice died in the collision at the intersection of Droubay Road with Union Pacific's main line trackage. The 67 car train, operated by engineer Paul Kleinman sustained relatively minor damage to its lead locomotive. (R. 215 and 215). Weather was cloudy with a light rain falling. (R. 431).

Duncan, a California resident was unfamiliar with the crossing. He had been visiting relatives in Tooele and, on this particular occasion, was headed to the home of Steven Bowers (deceased Jeffrey Bowers' uncle) for a family gathering and dinner. (R. 215 and 427-428).

Plaintiffs are the decedents heirs. To the extent not set forth above, deceased Patrick Duncan left, as his heirs, Louis and Noreen Duncan, father and mother respectively; Jason Duncan, son; and Michael, Tim, Kevin and Brian Duncan, brothers. Jeffrey Bowers and his daughter, Nicole Bowers, left as their heirs at law, Michelle Bowers, wife and mother, respectively;

Judson Bowers, father and grandfather; Florence Hanson, mother and grandmother; and Shelly and Sherrie Bowers, sister and aunt. Deceased Ramon Henwood left as his next of kin, Monica Henwood, wife; and Phillis and Owen Henwood, mother and father. (R. at 8).

THE DROUBAY ROAD CROSSING

Droubay Road is an essentially straight, two-lane road running north and south through rural Tooele County, Utah positioned approximately one-half the distance between State Highway 36 and the western foothills of the Oquirrh Mountains. The road is an important arterial in the County, serving the communities of Erda and Bates Canyon. At this crossing, Union Pacific's rails traverse Droubay at an angle of slightly over 43° north and over 136° south of the track. (R. at 412).

At the time of the accident, the only warning signs present from the northbound lane were a railroad advance warning sign (a circular yellow sign with a large black "X" and a "R" on either side of the intersecting lanes) located 300 feet from the crossing and two railroad crossing signs (white cross-bars with "railroad crossing" printed in black letters), 19 feet from the intersection.² (R. at 410).

The possible need to upgrade warning devices at the crossing was raised as early as September of 1979 when Union

² Federal standards mandate that in a rural area a railroad advance warning sign be located 750 feet in advance of a crossing. (R. at 188).

Pacific was approached by Tooele County in connection with a project to widen Droubay Road. W.A. Ridge, Union Pacific's superintendent stated "if the widening of the roadway will increase the vehicular traffic using the roadway, it would be well to indicate to the State if any additional crossing protection is required other than the standard cross-buck at the present location."

In November of 1981, UDOT re-evaluated the crossing at Droubay Road pursuant to a second request of the Tooele County Engineer. The surveillance team recommended a removal of automatic crossing signals from Bauer Road, another north-south arterial in the County which had recently been closed for installation at the Droubay Road crossing. (R. at 360 and 361). The closure had resulted in a projected increase of up to 1,500 (from 100) vehicles on a daily basis, including a minimum of 4 school buses. High speed automobile and train travel over the tracks was also noted by the surveillance team. (R. at 302). Despite the substantial diversion of high speed traffic to Droubay Road and over this particular crossing, installation of mechanical crossing gates was postponed until federal funding became available. (R. 403-405 and 357-359). This was because the "Hazard Index Rating" arrived at by the surveillance team allegedly fell just under that required to receive priority for upgrade funding.

In May and June of 1983, immediately after notification of the fatal Duncan accident, the UDOT team conducted additional

inspections at the urging of Tooele County officials. (R. 303). At this time, flashing light signals with gates were proposed. The recommendation was warranted by "high traffic speed, including passenger train; high vehicular speed; moderately high train volume; high predicted accident rate." (emphasis added). (R. 298). The high incidence of accidents at the Droubay Road crossing which supported the recommendation to install additional safeguards is evidenced by accident reports made part of the record at 212-221. These reports indicate that, as of May 18, 1983, there had been three similar (for a total of four) accidents at the intersection. (R. 188).

Another key factor in compiling the "hazard index" which ultimately prompted an upgrade was the "angle of crossing factor" at Droubay Road, 43°. This angle made it difficult to gauge the speed and distance of oncoming trains. (R. 189). Crommelin's Affidavit testimony on this point is substantiated by a test to estimate train speeds conducted by Highway Patrol Trooper Terry Smith and made part of the record at R. 433. Smith found:

. . . at that angle to the train, it was very difficult to judge the speed of the train. I estimated the speed of the train at 45 m.p.h. and felt sure I had time to cross the intersection. On radar stationary, the train was traveling at 70 m.p.h. I would not have made it through the intersection if I had tried. The problem of estimating train speed is exacerbated at night, when the Duncan accident occurred."

(R. 433).

Through use of the mechanical formula developed by the United States Department of Transportation, UDOT indexed the subject crossing at .21, well over the .15 index where additional precautions, such as automatic crossing gates are warranted. As a result, mechanical gates with flashers were installed at the Droubay Road intersection in 1985. Responsibility for construction work was shared by Union Pacific and Tooele County. (R. 303 and 298-299). In addition, Tooele County widened Droubay Road running north from the crossing by 10 feet to match the width on the southern approach. These remedial measures were too late to save the lives of Patrick Duncan, Jeffrey Bowers, Nicole Bowers, his daughter, and Ramon Henwood.

It is submitted that the above facts, most of which are garnered from a canvas of Defendants' own Affidavits and evidence support a finding that the Droubay Road crossing was "extra-hazardous." Nonetheless, and despite assuming Plaintiffs had stated a prima facie case of negligence, the Court of Appeals found no liability on the part of either the State or Union Pacific for dangerous conditions at the crossing. From this anomalous result springs the present review.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

AT POINT I

As a matter of law, the District Court and Court of Appeals relieved the railroad from any responsibility as to dangerous conditions created by inadequate warnings at railroad crossings. This was premised upon Utah statutes which vest

authority over highway signage with the Utah Department of Transportation.

These rulings were erroneous. There is absolutely no indication that the legislature by enacting the statutory scheme (codified at Utah Code Ann. 54-4-15 et seq.) intended to abrogate the common law duties imposed upon railroads to make and maintain safe crossings. Nor is there any evidence that the legislature intended to repeal the statutory liability of railroads for damages assessed by other code provisions, specifically, § 56-1-11. Finally, the lower court decisions are flawed as contrary to sound public policy considerations.

AT POINT II

Although the District Court conceded the State might be liable, under some circumstances, for injuries occurring at "extra-hazardous" crossings, the Court of Appeals foreclosed such liability, concluding "that UDOT is immune for its failure to do more than minimal warning and control . . ." Duncan v. Union Pacific Railroad, 790 P.2d 598 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals finding of governmental immunity is unsound. It is contradicted by recent precedent from the Utah Supreme Court and other sections of the Governmental Immunity Act. It is also poor reasoning to permit a governmental entity to get by with only "minimal" precautions at a dangerous railroad crossing when it is statutorily mandated to "promote the public safety". Utah Code Ann. § 54-4-15.1 (1990).

AT POINT III

Should this Court reject immunity for the State and hold the railroad liable for injuries at dangerous crossings, it must then find there are disputed issues of material fact as to whether or not the Droubay Road intersection is "extra-hazardous" requiring Defendants to take additional precautions. Disputed facts raised by the Affidavit of Robert Crommelin and Defendants' own Affidavits and evidence were more than sufficient to defeat the Rule 56 Motions for Summary Judgment.

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

Undisputed evidence in our case reveals Union Pacific and the State had knowledge of a dangerous condition at the Droubay Road rail crossing. Tooele County officials had requested numerous inspections of the crossing with an eye toward enhancing inadequate warning devices. Although UDOT could have ordered the railroad to cover installation costs, placement of automatic crossing gates was deferred until federal funding was available. This delay was in spite of the recommendations from Union Pacific representatives and members of the surveillance teams.

Yet, as a result of the Court of Appeals opinion in Duncan, the families of four people who died in a train collision at the crossing have been unjustly denied compensation. The opinion obligates Union Pacific to simply clear vegetation from areas around its tracks and the State must only provide minimally effective warning signs on the public road. Thus, free from fear

of being joined in suits for inadequate warning devices, the State and railroad can sit by and do nothing while on notice of dangerous conditions imperiling the public. The Supreme Court must redefine the duties of the respective Defendants with regard to improving railroad crossing safety and grant these injured Plaintiffs the remedy they so aptly deserve.

POINT I

THE LEGISLATURE HAS NOT PRE-EMPTED THE RAILROAD'S DUTIES TO
MAINTAIN SAFE RAILROAD CROSSINGS.

Without any support from prior precedent, whether from Utah or other jurisdictions, the Court of Appeals in Duncan made all railroads within the State free from any concerns of negligence for unsafe conditions at crossings regardless of notice and requests to cure. Though this ruling is no doubt widely heralded by railroads, it is contrary to reason, long-standing statutory and case law precedent and violative of good public policy. The Supreme Court is compelled to reverse the Court of Appeals in this instance and restore the law to former sound principles.

A. DESPITE UDOT'S AUTHORITY, UNION PACIFIC CONTINUES TO BE
LIABLE FOR DANGEROUS CONDITIONS AT RAILWAY CROSSINGS.

In a long line of cases commencing with English v. Southern Pacific Company, 45 P.2d 47 (Utah 1896) this Court embraced the common law duty imposed upon a railroad to adopt such reasonable measures for the public safety as common prudence may dictate in considering dangers at crossings. See also, Bridges v. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 488 P.2d 738 (Utah 1971). Despite the absence of any Utah Supreme Court opinion absolving the railroad of this longstanding duty, the Court of Appeals in Duncan rejected liability on the grounds that Utah Code Ann. § 54-4-15.1 had somehow pre-empted the field. There is no support for this proposition in either the cited statute or existing case law.

Although UDOT is given authority to "provide for the installing, maintaining, reconstructing and improving of automatic and other safety appliances, signals or devices at grade crossings" pursuant to the foregoing statute, there is no indication that the legislature intended for that authority to be "exclusive" and in derogation of the railroad's traditional obligations. In fact, when Utah Code Ann. § 54-4-15 was amended in 1975, the term "exclusive" was deleted when empowering UDOT to determine what safety precautions were required at crossings, while subsection (4) was added to retain the Public Service Commission's "exclusive" jurisdiction to resolve disputes arising from UDOT's actions in determining appropriate safeguards.

Other provisions of the Public Utilities Act maintain the notion that the railroad has continuing duties to improve railroad crossings. The Act still obligates Union Pacific to share costs of warning precautions at crossings. Utah Code Ann. § 54-4-15.3 (1990). See also, Duncan, 790 P.2d 597, n. 11. Furthermore, § 54-4-16 requires the railroad to investigate and file a report on any accident which occurs at a crossing.

The result reached by the Court of Appeals in this case is also contradicted by statutory duties and liabilities imposed upon Union Pacific under Utah Code Ann. § 56-1-11 (1990) which states:

Every railroad company shall be liable for damages caused by its neglect to make and maintain good and sufficient crossings at points where any line traveled crosses its road.

There was neither an explicit or implicit repeal of this provision (in effect since 1898) when the legislature enacted the Public Utilities Act under which Union Pacific seeks protection. Though Plaintiffs relied upon this Code provision, the Appeals Court didn't address the issues raised by 56-1-11 nor did it attempt to harmonize the potentially inconsistent statutes. See, VanWagoner v. Union Pacific, 186 P.2d 293 (Utah 1947) (Identically worded predecessor to § 56-1-11 imposed civil liability on railroad for injuries which occur from negligent breach of duty to maintain safe crossing).

In view of the express language of § 54-4-15.1, other statutory authority and the clear and unequivocal holdings of numerous Supreme Court opinions, the Court of Appeals and District Court committed error in finding that Union Pacific had no legal responsibility for adequate warning devices at railroad crossings.

It seems curious that, if the legislature really intended the crucial and sweeping changes the railroad suggests, it would do so in the manner and at the place suggested. The rules governing negligence claims arising from railroad crossing accidents were long and painstaking in development. The cases, and the rules derived from them date from early statehood. The change perceived by the railroad would shift responsibility, and presumably tort liability, from railroads to the public. . . . [W]e are persuaded that the statute does not serve the railroad as a defense to plaintiff's assertion in this suit.
. . .

Sullivan v. Chicago & Northwestern Transportation Co., 326 N.W.2d 320, 323 (Iowa 1982) (a railroad cannot hide behind authority of

Department of Transportation to determine the use of warning devices and signs at hazardous crossings in derogation of common law duties).

B. EVEN IF UDOT HAD SOLE AUTHORITY TO PRESCRIBE WARNING DEVICES, UNION PACIFIC IS STILL NOT FREE FROM LIABILITY.

Although this is a case of first impression before the Utah Supreme Court, appellate courts from numerous other jurisdictions have found a railroad has ongoing civil liability for injuries sustained in crossing accidents attributable to inadequate warning devices regardless of state authority and regulation over grade crossings.

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