1990

# Lewis Duncan, Patrick Duncan v. Union Pacific Railroad Company; The State of Utah; Paul Kleinman : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

##### **POINT I:**

It is the public policy of federal and state governments that responsibility for regulating the installation and modification of warning devices at public railroad crossings be lodged exclusively with the state. Thus, both federal and state laws preempt negligence lawsuits against railroads for failing to install or modify such devices. Such a holding does not alter the railroads' common law duty of reasonable care with respect to matters under their control. The Court of Appeals decision in this respect is in harmony with Utah statutory and case law, and is supported by the majority of recent decisions from other jurisdictions.

##### **POINT II:**

The crossing in question is located in a rural area, is totally unobstructed and has none of the confusing or complicating features normally found in extrahazardous crossings. It was appropriate, therefore, for the District Court, based upon its examination of the nature of the crossing itself, to rule as a matter of law that it was not more than ordinarily hazardous.

Union Pacific had no duty, therefore, to take additional precautions to reduce the risks at the crossing with respect to approaching motorists.

Furthermore, the Crommelin Affidavit was fundamentally flawed in that it relied for its conclusion on misinformation and inadmissible evidence. The affidavit, therefore, was not persuasive in raising a general issue of material fact concerning the extrahazardous crossing issue.

**POINT III:**

It would be inappropriate to burden Union Pacific with a duty for which it has no corresponding right to control and implement, and where it has no expertise in prioritizing crossings and obtains no benefit from projects which install or improve crossing warning devices. Public policy considerations support the dispositions of plaintiffs' claim thus far.

**ARGUMENT**

**POINT I. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT ERROR IN ASSESSING UNION PACIFIC'S DUTIES TO IMPROVE WARNING DEVICES AT PUBLIC RAILROAD CROSSINGS.**

**A. Utah Law Vests Exclusive Jurisdiction In State Agencies For Regulating the Travel of Motorists at Public Railroad Crossings.**

Union Pacific could not have been negligent in failing to improve the warning devices at the crossing because it had no authority or duty to install or modify such devices. Governmental agencies have the exclusive authority over public

roads and over the signs and warning devices placed on those roads.

1. The Statutory Framework.

The Utah Legislature (and the Courts) has divided responsibility for safety at public railroad crossings among involved parties. Railroads are statutorily required to provide crossing surfaces that are in a proper state of repair so that they can be safely driven over [§ 10-7-26, et seq.; § 56-1-11; Denkers v. Southern Pacific Co., 52 Utah 18, 171 P. 999 (1918); Van Wagoner v. Union Pacific R.R., 112 Utah 189, 186 P.2d 293 (1947)]; have their trains sound bells or whistles when approaching public crossings (§ 56-1-14); and cooperate with governmental agencies in investigating the safety of crossings and in the installation and maintenance of whatever crossing warning systems UDOT deems necessary and approves for construction. (§ 54-4-14, et seq.)(Addendum.) Additionally, as explained by the Court of Appeals in this case (790 P.2d at 599) (Addendum), railroads have the common law duty to take such reasonable steps as would be within their authority to alleviate hazards at crossings, such as by removing obstructions to view on their right of way or reducing train speed. Gleave v. Denver & Rio Grande W. R.R. Co., 749 P.2d 660 (Utah App. 1988). Adjacent property owners are required to remove vegetation or other obstructions to view or which otherwise constitute a

"traffic hazard," (§ 41-6-19); motorists are responsible to recognize the train's right of way, and take special precautions when approaching and stopping at railroad crossings. (§§ 41-6-46, 41-6-93, 41-6-95, and 41-6-97.) UDOT has been delegated the responsibility for regulating the safe travel of motorists on roads and highways, including those which pass over and across railroad tracks. § 54-4-14, et seq.; Gleave v. Denver & Rio Grande W. R.R. Co., supra. at 664.

A series of Utah statutes has established the exclusive authority of UDOT to decide on and install traffic control devices at public railroad crossings, subject only to review by the Public Service Commission of Utah ("PSCU"). Under § 54-4-14, state authorities are specifically charged with the overall, exclusive responsibility to regulate the installation of warning devices at public grade crossings. Under § 54-4-15(1), a crossing cannot be built "without the permission of the Department of Transportation having first been secured," and UDOT "shall have the right to refuse its permission or to grant it upon such terms and conditions as it may prescribe." Furthermore, § 54-4-15(2) provides that UDOT "shall have the power to determine and prescribe the manner . . . of . . . protection of each crossing . . . and to alter or abolish any such crossing . . . ." Under § 54-4-15(4), the PSCU "shall retain exclusive jurisdiction for the resolution of any dispute

upon petition by any person aggrieved by any action of [UDOT]" taken pursuant to § 54-4-15. Moreover, Section 54-4-15.3 provides that UDOT "shall apportion the cost of the installation, maintenance, reconstruction or improvement of any signals or devices described in § 54-4-15.1 between the railroad or street railroad and the public agency involved." Section 54-4-15 separately requires UDOT to provide in its annual budget for the cost of installing signals or other safety devices at railroad crossings.

## **2. The Legislative History.**

In 1917, the Utah Legislature enacted the forerunner of the current § 54-4-14, et seq., under which the predecessor of the PSCU was granted "the exclusive power to determine and prescribe the manner . . . and the terms of installation, operation, maintenance, use and protection . . . of each crossing of a public road or a highway." Laws of Utah, 1917, § 47-4-14. This court has held that this language means just what it says in The Denver & Rio Grande Western R.R. v. Public Utilities Commission of Utah, 51 Utah 623, 172 P. 479 (1918); and Provo City v. Department of Business Regulation, et al., 118 Utah 1, 218 P.2d 675 (1950). On both of these occasions, the court held that the power of the designated state agency to "determine and prescribe" railroad crossings was exclusive.

Section 54-4-14, et seq., was amended in 1975 in conjunction with the creation of UDOT, which assumed most of the

PSCU's duties regarding railroad crossing safety. The amendment substituted references to UDOT for the prior references in the statutes to the PSCU. Subsection (4) in § 54-4-15 was added to retain ultimate supervisory jurisdiction in the PSCU to review the actions of UDOT. As a result, a single state agency no longer had "exclusive" power over crossing safety -- two agencies now shared that power. Therefore, Legislature had to delete the word "exclusive" as it referred to UDOT's authority. However, the State (UDOT and the PSCU together) still retains exclusive jurisdiction over the installation of traffic signs and control devices on public roads at railroad crossings, and a private party, such as a railroad, has no more right to change the traffic warning devices on such roads than it would to change any other regulatory signs on any other public highways.

### **3. Interpretation by Utah Courts.**

Although the Utah Supreme Court has not interpreted these statutes since the 1975 Amendment, there has been a considerable amount of Utah litigation on this issue. State and federal trial court judges and now the Utah Court of Appeals, have uniformly interpreted Utah law to preclude railroads and local governments from having any authority or duty to install initially or modify traffic warning devices at public railroad crossings. In addition to Judge Hansen's decision in this case, see, e.g., the Order of Judge Dennis Frederick in Anderson v. Whittle v. Denver & Rio Grande Western R.R., Civ. No. C 81-3189



(3rd Dist. Ct., March 1987)(R. 161); the Order of Judge David K. Winder in Harsin v. Denver & Rio Grande Western R.R., Civ. No. C 83-0993W (D. Utah, January 1985)(R.157); the Order of Judge Aldin J. Anderson in Bellon v. Denver & Rio Grande Western R.R., Civ. No. C 83-088A (D. Utah, Sept. 1984)(R. 152); and the Order of Chief Judge Bruce S. Jenkins in Denver & Rio Grande Western R.R. v. West Jordan Municipal Court, Civ. No. C 81-0344J (D. Utah, May 1982). (R. 150.) As stated in Gleave:

UDOT is statutorily empowered to 'provide for the installing, maintaining, reconstructing, and improving of automatic and other safety appliances, signals or devices at grade crossings,' . . . and to apportion costs of such projects among public and private entities. . . . the government alone must consistently regulate safety devices at railroad crossings, determine which devices at which crossings should be recommended for federal funding, rank crossings in order of need for upgrading in light of limited funds for that purpose, and apportion signal installation costs between public and private entities. As a practical matter, the private sector cannot perform these functions. Accordingly, we hold that the regulation of public safety needs and the evaluation, installation, maintenance and improvement of safety signals or devices at railroad crossings is a governmental function. . . .

(Citations omitted), 749 P.2d at 667-68.

**4. The Vesting of Exclusive Authority in State Agencies Serves the Important Purpose of Establishing Uniformity Throughout the State.**

Presumably, in the early days of railroading when only horse drawn vehicles and early "horseless carriages" crossed over railroad tracks, the railroads themselves installed whatever signs they chose at crossings. One can safely assume the

crossing protection signs of that era offered little consistency to the highway traveler but, of course, the speed and range of highway travel was substantially different from what it is today.

In Utah, as elsewhere, government has become increasingly involved in the regulation of highway traffic as the number and speed of vehicles increased. The legislature's decision to reserve to state agencies the exclusive authority over railroad crossing protection establishes efficiency as well as uniformity in safety regulation. The purpose of any traffic control system is to promote safety while preserving efficiency of traffic flow. The goals of safety and efficiency are, to some extent, inherently conflicting. For example, if the speed limit on interstate highways were reduced from 55 to 25 m.p.h., there would no doubt be a reduction in accidents, but the reduction in traffic flow efficiency would be drastic. The balance between safety and efficiency would be upset.

In order to strike an acceptable balance between safety and efficiency at railroad crossings, an entity with traffic regulation expertise and decision making authority must have an overview of the safety requirements and traffic flow needs of both the communities and the railroad companies involved. If railroad companies had decision making authority, they would undoubtedly close as many railroad-highway grade crossings as possible so as to prevent potential hazards. This would not, of course, serve the interest of the community residents who want to

avoid detours and other impediments to their free travel. The Utah state agencies that have been given exclusive authority over railroad crossing protection are uniquely qualified to make the necessary traffic control decisions.

Railroad companies also lack the engineering expertise and overview of community traffic flow needs required to make decisions about what traffic control devices should be installed at railroad crossings. The UDOT has the necessary expertise to make those decisions. In doing so, UDOT considers a variety of factual data not even available to railroad companies, including highway speed limits, the density of vehicular traffic, the density of pedestrian traffic, and the desired traffic flow patterns. (See, Affidavit of Ross D. Wilson with attachments, R. 362-353.) For these reasons, as well as for the purposes of safety and efficiency, the exclusive authority for determining what traffic control devices will be installed at railroad crossings has been vested in UDOT, subject to PSCU review.

Since state agencies have exclusive authority over the installation of railroad crossing protection devices, it necessarily follows that Union Pacific had neither the authority nor the duty to install any such devices at the crossing in question.

**B. Plaintiffs Misinterpret the Court of Appeals' Decisions in the Gleave and Duncan Cases.**

A close reading of the Court of Appeals decisions in the Gleave and Duncan cases clearly shows that the decisions are in harmony on the issue of the respective responsibilities of state agencies and railroads with respect to crossing safety.

Both cases specifically reaffirmed the long standing common law duty that railroads are required to take the actions of a reasonable man in alleviating such hazards at railroad crossings as are within their power and authority to remove. Gleave specifically identified the wild vegetation which the railroad allowed to grow on its right of way to the point where it obstructed the motorist's view, and reducing train speed, as the type of hazards the railroad could alleviate. (Gleave, 749 P.2d at 664.) The court acknowledged the existence of this duty in Duncan, but pointed out that "there is nothing to indicate what could have made Union Pacific's right of way any safer to motorists crossing Droubay Road." (Duncan, 790 P.2d at 599.) Indeed, plaintiffs make no such suggestions in this regard anywhere in their brief. In fact, there were no railroad created or controlled obstructions either on or off the right of way, and the train was travelling 20 miles per hour under the speed limit. Accordingly, it is incorrect for plaintiffs to assert that Duncan insulates railroads "from any concerns of negligence for unsafe conditions at crossings . . . ," or that the Court of Appeals has in any way changed Utah law in this respect. Railroads have

always been and continue to be subject to the reasonable man standard with respect to those hazards over which they have control or responsibility.

**C. Plaintiffs Misinterpret the Meaning and Application § 56-1-11.**

Plaintiffs apparently interpret § 56-1-11 as imposing on railroads a duty to install and improve warning devices at crossings, and in doing so argue that the statute is, therefore, inconsistent with the statutory scheme set forth at § 54-4-14 et seq., as interpreted by the Court of Appeals.

Plaintiffs misunderstand the meaning and application of § 56-1-11. This Court has discussed the application of this statute to a railroad's duty in crossing accident cases in Denkers v. Southern Pacific Co., 52 Utah 18, 171 p. 999 (1918), and Van Wagoner v. Union Pacific R.R., 112 Utah 189, 186 P.2d 293 (1947). In both cases the statute was discussed and applied in terms of the railroad's responsibilities to maintain the crossing surface in a "good and sufficient" state of repair so that travellers can pass safely thereover. There were no discussions that it imposed a duty to signalize crossings.

Indeed, there are no Utah decisions which interpret the statute as placing a duty upon railroads to install or improve warning devices at railroad crossings. That responsibility was specifically addressed and delegated to the State in § 54-4-14, et seq. Section 56-1-11, as part of the statutory scheme enacted by the legislature to delegate safety responsibilities at

railroad crossings, gives to railroads the responsibility to maintain a "good and sufficient" crossing surface. It does not impose a duty to construct warning devices. Consequently, there is no "potential inconsistency" between this statute and § 54-4-14, et seq.

**D. Federal Enactments are Supportive of the Court of Appeals Decision.**

The federal Rail Safety Act of 1970 ("FRSA"), 45 U.S.C. § 421, et seq., covers all areas of railroad safety. Of the numerous areas of railroad safety addressed by the Act, only one area is afforded specific treatment and that is the area relating to the problem of railroad grade crossing safety, to which a specific section of the Act is devoted. In 45 U.S.C. § 433(a), the Secretary was required to study and report to Congress on the problem of protecting railroad grade crossings, and at the same time, he was required (under § 433(b)) to undertake a coordinated study towards solving the grade crossing problem, not only under his FRSA authority, but also under his authority pursuant to other federal laws dealing with highway traffic, safety, and construction, thus bringing into play the provisions of the federal Highway Safety Act (23 U.S.C. § 101, et seq.), various sections of which directly require the states (not the railroads) to survey and identify those crossings which require automatic warning devices.

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